COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

January 1, 2020 - December 31, 2024

Between

TOWNSHIP OF RARITAN

and

RARITAN TOWNSHIP SUPERIOR OFFICERS ASSOCIATION PBA LOCAL 337A

Mets Schiro & McGovern, LLP 555 U.S. Highway 1 South, Suite 320 Iselin, New Jersey 08830 Attorneys for PBA Local 337A

DiFrancesco, Bateman, Coley, Yospin Kunzman, Davis, Lehrer & Flaum, P.C. 15 Mountain Boulevard Warren, New Jersey 0759-6237 Attorneys for Township of Raritan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE II - CONDUCTING UNION BUSINESS	1
ARTICLE III – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	2
ARTICLE IV - DISCRIMINATION OR COERCION	
ARTICLE V - NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT	3
ARTICLE VI - RULES AND REGULATIONS	3
ARTICLE VII – GRIEVANCE & ARBITRATION PROCEDURES	4
ARTICLE VIII - REPRIMAND, SUSPENSION & DISCHARGE	7
ARTICLE IX – HOURS OF WORK	7
ARTICLE X – OVERTIME	8
ARTICLE XI – SALARY	
ARTICLE XII – EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE	11
ARTICLE XIII – DEATH IN FAMILY	13
ARTICLE XIV – PERSONAL DAYS	14
ARTICLE XV – LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE XVI – VACATIONS	.15
ARTICLE XVII – HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE XVIII – SICK LEAVE	19
ARTICLE XIX – TERMINAL LEAVE	.21
ARTICLE XX – ACTING OFFICER	.22
ARTICLE XXI – UNIFORMS AND CLOTHING	22
ARTICLE XXII – LEAGL DEFENSE	.23
ARTICLE XXIII – INSURANCE	.23
ARTICLE XXIV - PROMOTIONS	
ARTICLE XXV – SAVINGS CLAUSE	.28
ARTICLE XXVI – PERSONNEL FILES	.29
ARTICLE XXVII – EMPLOYEE RIGHTS DURING INVESTIGATION	.29
ARTICLE XXVIII – OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT	.30
ARTICLE XXIX – REPRESENTATION FEE	.30
ARTICLE XXX – MISCELLANEOUS	.31
ARTICLE XXXI – DURATION OF AGREEMENT	.33
APPENDIX A – CAPTAINS SALARY SCALE	
APPENDIX B – LIEUTENANTS SALARY SCALE	
APPENDIX C – SERGEANTS SALARY SCALE	
APPENDIX D – HEALTH BENEFIT PLANS	

PREAMBLE

This Agreement made as of this _____ day of _______, 2019 between the Township of Raritan, a municipality in the County of Hunterdon, State of New Jersey, (hereinafter the "Township" or "Employer") and the Raritan Township Superior Officers Association, Local No. 337A (hereinafter the "SOA" or "Employees").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, it is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto to promote and improve the harmonious and economic relations between the employer and its employees and to establish a basic understanding relative to the rates of pay, hours of work, and other conditions of employment consistent with the law;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these promises and mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree with each other with respect to the employees of the employer recognized as being represented by the SOA.

ARTICLE I. RECOGNITION

The Township hereby recognizes the SOA as the exclusive and sole representative for the collective negotiations concerning salaries, hours of work, and other terms and conditions of employment for all Superior Officers in the ranks of Sergeant, Lieutenant and Captain employed by the Township and excluding the Chief of Police.

ARTICLE II. CONDUCTING UNION BUSINESS

1. The Township shall permit members of the SOA grievance committee (not to exceed one (1)) to conduct the business of the committee, which shall consist of conferring with employees and management on specific grievances in accordance with the grievance procedure set forth herein, during the duty hours of the members without loss of pay, provided the conduct

of said business shall not diminish the effectiveness of the police department or require the recall of off-duty officers to bring their department to its proper effectiveness.

- 2. The Township shall permit members of the SOA negotiating committee (not to exceed one (1)) to attend collective negotiating meetings, during the duty hours of the members without loss of pay, provided the conducting of the negotiations shall not diminish the effectiveness of the police department or require the recall of off-duty officers to bring the department to its proper effectiveness.
- 3. The Township agrees to grant a maximum of one (1) day per month off, which may be taken in daily or hourly increments, if needed, to an officer of the SOA to attend PBA and/or SOA meetings without loss of pay, provided the conducting of such business shall not diminish the effectiveness of the police department. Any such officer who attends the PBA and/or SOA meetings shall provide their own transportation and shall not use police department vehicles unless instructed otherwise by the employer.

ARTICLE III. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- It is understood and agreed that the employer possesses the sole and exclusive right to conduct the business of the Township and, except as modified by this Agreement, to manage and direct the affairs of the police department and to fulfill its lawful obligations.
- 2. It is further understood and agreed that all rights of management are retained by the employer, except as modified by this Agreement, and that these rights shall include but not by way of exclusion, the right to (a) select and direct the employees; (b) hire, promote, transfer and assign; (c) suspend, demote, discharge or take other disciplinary action for good cause; (d) relieve employees from duty because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons; and (e) determine the work to be performed within the unit of employees covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV. DISCRIMINATION OR COERCION

There shall be no discrimination, interference or coercion by the employer, or any of its agents, against the employees represented by the union because of membership or activity in the union. The union shall not intimidate or coerce employees into membership. Neither the employer nor the union shall discriminate against any employee because of race, creed, color, sex, national origin or political affiliation or other status protected by law.

ARTICLE V. NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

- 1. It is recognized that the need for continued and uninterrupted operation of the Township's departments and agencies is of paramount importance to the citizens of the community and that there shall be no interference with such operations. Adequate procedures having been provided for the equitable settlement of grievances arising out of this Agreement, the parties hereto agree that there will not be and that the union, its officers, members, agents or principals will not engage in, encourage, sanction or suggest strikes, slowdowns, job action, lockouts, mass resignations, mass absenteeism or other similar action which would involve suspension of or interference with normal work performance.
- 2. The employer shall have the right to discipline or discharge any employee participating in any prohibited activity set forth in Section 1 of this Article.

ARTICLE VI. RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 1. The present rules and regulations pertaining to the operation of the police department and maintenance of discipline will remain in effect subject to future negotiations. Proposed new rules or modifications of existing rules governing working conditions shall be negotiated with the majority representative before they are established.
 - 2. It is understood that the employees shall comply with all such rules and regulations.

Employees shall promptly and efficiently execute the instructions and orders of the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee. If any employee(s) believes a rule, regulation, instruction or order is unreasonable, unjust or in violation of the contract between the parties, the employee(s) shall comply with the rule, regulation, order or instruction, subject to the rights provided in the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement.

3. In the event that an employee(s) refuses to comply with a rule or regulation, or refuses to execute promptly and efficiently an instruction or order of the Chief of Police, or the Chiefs designee, the employer shall have the right to take disciplinary action subject to the right of the employee(s) to seek redress under *N.J.S.A.* Title 40A or the grievance procedure set forth herein.

ARTICLE VII. GRIEVANCE & ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

1. A grievance is hereby jointly defined as an appeal of the interpretation, application or violation of policies, agreements, and administrative decisions affecting an employee(s) or the majority representative of the employees. For the purpose of providing an orderly method for handling and disposing of grievances as defined, it is hereby agreed that grievances shall be adjusted as follows unless there are specific exceptions cited within the Agreement:

STEP 1. The SOA President, or the President's designee, shall present and discuss the grievance(s) orally with the Chief of Police within fifteen (15) working days after the grievant(s) knew or should have known of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance. The Chief shall answer the grievance orally within five (5) working days from the date of its presentation.

STEP 2. If the grievance is not resolved satisfactorily at Step 1, or if no answer has been received by the SOA within the time limit set forth in Step 1, the SOA shall present its grievance, in writing, within five (5) working days to the Chief of Police. This presentation shall

set forth the nature of the grievance involved, the applicable provisions of this Agreement and the position of the SOA with respect to same. The Chief shall answer the grievance, in writing, within five (5) working days after receipt of same.

STEP 3. If the grievance is not resolved satisfactorily at Step 2, or if no answer has been received by the SOA within the time limit set forth in Step 2, the grievance shall be presented, in writing, to the Township Administrator within five (5) working days thereafter. Upon mutual agreement by the parties, a meeting may be held on the grievance between the SOA and the Township Administrator at which meeting the parties may be represented by legal counsel. Said meeting shall not be held publicly unless the parties so agree in writing. The Township Administrator shall render a final written decision on the grievance within ten (10) working days of the date of its presentation or, if a meeting is held, within ten (10) working days thereafter setting forth the position of the employer.

STEP 4. If the grievance is not resolved at Step 3, or if no answer has been received by the SOA within the time limit set forth in Step 3, the grievance shall be presented, in writing, by the SOA to the Mayor and Township Committee within five (5) working days. Upon mutual agreement by the parties, a meeting may be held on the grievance between the SOA and the Mayor and Township Committee at which meeting the parties may be represented by legal counsel. Said meeting shall not be held publicly unless the parties so agree in writing. The Mayor and Township Committee shall render a final written decision on the grievance within fifteen (15) working days of the date of its presentation or, if a meeting is held, within fifteen (15) working days thereafter setting forth the position of the employer.

STEP 5. If the grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved in Step 4, the SOA or the employer may refer the matter to the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC) for selection of an arbitrator when a dispute exists regarding the interpretation and/or application of a specific provision of this Agreement.

- a. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties.

 The expense of such arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties.
- b. All submissions to arbitration must be made within fifteen (15) working days following the answer to the Mayor and Township Committee, or within fifteen (15) working days following the time period set forth in Step 4 if no answer is furnished by the Mayor and Township Committee.
- c. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall be issued not later than thirty (30) calendar days after the close of the arbitration hearing. The decision shall set forth the arbitrator's findings of fact and the reasons and conclusions on the issue(s) submitted.
- d. The arbitrator shall be bound by the provisions of this Agreement and shall be restricted to the application of the facts presented to the arbitrator in the grievance. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, modify, detract from, or alter in any way the provisions of this Agreement or any amendment or supplement thereto.
- e. In cases involving back pay, the arbitrator may award such back pay only to the date from which the grievance was filed.
- 2. All of the time limits contained in this Article may be extended by mutual consent.

 Unless such time limits are extended by mutual consent, the failure to observe the time limits herein stated, for presentation of the grievance or submission of said grievance to arbitration, shall constitute an abandonment of said grievance or right to arbitration and settlement thereof.

ARTICLE VIII. REPRIMAND, SUSPENSION & DISCHARGE

EXPEDITED ARBITRATION

- 1. The parties agree that nothing herein shall in any way prohibit the employer from reprimanding, suspending or discharging any employee, regardless of seniority, for just cause. Notice of reprimand, suspension, or discharge shall be served upon the SOA at the same time it is served upon the employee involved.
- 2. In the event an employee feels that they are being reprimanded, suspended or discharged unjustly, said employee shall have all the rights afforded to the employee under *N.J.S.A*. Title 40A or the affected employee may file a grievance within fifteen (15) working days of the reprimand, suspension or discharge commencing at Step 3 of the procedure.

ARTICLE IX. HOURS OF WORK

- 1. The parties understand and agree that the standard weekly work schedule requires employee services continuously throughout the seven day week.
- 2. Sergeants of the patrol division shall work a three-on, three-off, twelve-hour work schedule requiring 2190 hours per year; the tours of duty shall be from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. and from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.; shift rotations shall be on a monthly basis; and officers attending a training session on a scheduled workday shall be credited with a full day's work regardless of the actual time spent at training and those attending on a scheduled day off shall be entitled to an alternate day off.
- a. Sergeants assigned to non-uniformed and/or non-patrol police duties shall work a shift as assigned by the Chief of Police.
- b. Captains and Lieutenants shall work hours as assigned by the Chief of Police.

- 3. The Chief of Police shall have the right to make changes in the starting and stopping time of the daily work schedule in cases of emergencies. Any such temporary scheduling changes shall be for the efficient operation of the department and only during the extent of the emergency.
- a. "Emergency" as used herein shall include any unusual conditions caused by any circumstances or situation including shortages in the personnel of the police department or force caused by vacancies, sickness or injury, or by taking of accrued vacation or sick leave or both, whereby the safety of the public is endangered or imperiled as shall be determined by the Chief of Police.
- b. The limits and standards to be observed in determining such "emergency" include: (1) incidents caused by the employer shall be unintentional and of an accidental nature; (2) the emergency must involve a situation which threatens the health, safety and welfare of the public; (3) the emergency must be of limited time duration; and (4) any violation or suspension of contractual agreements must be limited only to the duration of the emergency.
- 4. The SOA shall be notified prior to the implementation of any permanent changes in the tours of duty, and shall have the right to discuss any permanent changes with the Chief of Police and/or the Township Administrator, the Mayor, and the Township Committee within fourteen (14) working days from the date of receiving notice of the proposed changes or by the date of the regularly scheduled Township Committee meeting next following the notice of the proposed changes, whichever is later. Upon termination of the notice period, the employer shall have the right to implement any such proposed changes in the tours of duty. The employee retains the right to grieve any such changes.

ARTICLE X. OVERTIME

1. The parties agree that employees have the option to receive compensation for

overtime via payroll or in compensatory time at the choice of the employee.

- a. It is mutually understood, however, that compensatory time shall be granted when a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours' notice is given, and at the discretion of the Chief of Police as operational needs require, based on seniority. In the event of an emergency, less than twenty-four (24) hours' notice will be acceptable. The use of compensatory time shall be denied if it results in more than three (3) officers including Sergeants being off on compensatory, personal or vacation leave during the same shift. The three (3) officer rule set forth herein does not apply to Lieutenants or Captains.
- b. The employer agrees that authorized overtime consisting of time and one-half shall be paid to all employees for hours worked in excess of the normal work day.
- c. Both overtime cash and compensatory time will be given at the rate of one and one-half times the regular rate of pay; cash at one and one-half times the normal hourly rate and compensatory time at one and one-half times the hours worked.
- d. Officers hired on or before December 31, 2019 may accrue a maximum of 720 hours of compensatory time, which includes both statutory and contractual compensatory time. Any officer with more than 720 hours in his or her time bank shall be permitted to maintain those hours but shall not be permitted to accrue additional compensatory time until the balance falls below 720 hours. Any officer with more than 720 hours of compensatory time shall be paid in cash for overtime worked until his or her compensatory time balance falls below 720 hours.

Officers hired on or after January 1, 2020 may accrue a maximum of 480 hours of compensatory time.

2. Employees shall not be paid overtime for hours of work in excess of the normal work day unless such overtime is authorized by the Chief of Police, the Captain on duty, the

Lieutenant on duty, the Sergeant on duty, or the senior officer on duty at the time.

- 3. It is recognized that the employees may be required to report in advance of the tour starting time and, for the purpose of report making at the end of the tour, to remain beyond the completion of the tour.
- a. In accordance with this recognition, no overtime shall be paid for a thirty (30) minute period prior to the start of a tour or for a thirty (30) minute period beyond the termination of a tour.
- b. In the event, however, an employee is required to report earlier than thirty (30) minutes prior to the commencement of a tour, or to remain beyond thirty (30) minutes after the end of a tour, the employee shall be paid the overtime rate for all time worked in excess of the normal work day.
- 4. Any employee called back for an unscheduled overtime shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours overtime compensation. Additionally, all hours worked in excess of four (4) hours shall be paid at the overtime rate as well.
- 5. A published overtime list of all members of the department shall be maintained by the Chief of Police and overtime shall be equally distributed, to the extent possible, on a rotating basis among the uniformed officers, except in emergency situations.
- a. If an officer declines to perform overtime work, it shall be considered as if the officer had worked the overtime, for the purpose of equalization of overtime, despite the fact that no payment of any kind shall be made for overtime not actually worked. This loss of opportunity for overtime shall not apply to officers absent for reasons of vacation, personal day, compensatory time off or bereavement leave.
 - b. At no time shall uniform patrol services be suspended.

- 6. Monetary compensation for overtime worked shall be paid in the next following paycheck if the overtime request is submitted by the Friday before the paycheck issued.
- 7. Employees shall submit for all overtime payment within thirty (30) days of the date the overtime is worked.
- 8. Captains shall not receive departmental overtime. Upon approval of the Chief of Police, Captains will receive flex time on an hour for hour basis when required to work more than eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week. The flex time must be used before the end of the year in which the flex time is earned.

ARTICLE XI. SALARY

- 1. The salary guides shall be increased by \$1,350 effective January 1, 2020, by 2.65% effective January 1, 2021, by 2.65% effective January 1, 2022, by 2.65% effective January 1, 2023 and by 2.65% effective January 1, 2024. The salary guide for Captains is attached hereto as Appendix A. The salary guide for Lieutenants is attached hereto as Appendix B. The Salary Guides for Sergeants is attached hereto as Appendix C. Employees shall advance on the salary guides on their anniversary date.
- 2. Employees who are required to remain on-call for the department or county courts (via subpoena) shall be paid at the rate of one (1) compensatory day per week of on-call.

ARTICLE XII. EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE

1. The Chief of Police shall approve necessary schedule changes to permit employees covered hereunder to attend law enforcement courses, approved by the Chief, provided such schedule changes shall not interfere with the efficient operation of the police department and shall not increase the cost of overtime. Permission for such schedule changes shall not be unreasonably withheld consistent, however, with the needs of the department.

- 2. The employer shall reimburse the employee for all costs reasonably related to any college matriculated level degree program in police science/criminal justice, public business administration, accounting, sociology and psychology, including but not limited to tuition, registration, student fees, parking, books and publications. However, higher educational degrees shall not be limited by those listed and are valid if they will enhance the performance of the employee. Reimbursement pursuant to this section will only be made to the employees attending an accredited college or university that is accredited by one of the six (6) regional accreditation institutes, identified as follows:
 - (1) Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges Western Association of Schools and Colleges;
 - (2) Higher Learning Commission;
 - (3) Middle States Commission on Higher Education;
 - (4) New England Association of Schools and Colleges Commission on Institution of Higher Education;
 - (5) Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges;
 - (6) WASC Senior College University Commission.
- a. The Township of Raritan agrees to fund an account to reimburse all reasonable costs related to any college matriculated level degree program. The budget shall be \$5,000 for the years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 respectively for the SOA and PBA combined.
- b. The Township of Raritan shall grant reimbursement to employees based on seniority; rank of an officer does not overrule seniority.
- c. The employee must have successfully completed their probationary period of employment for the Township in order to be eligible for such reimbursement. Employees must be enrolled in the college matriculated level degree program prior to their twentieth (20th) year of employment to be eligible for such reimbursement.

- d. Notification to attend the program must be made in writing to the Chief of Police. Said notification shall include the estimated annual cost of the program and a certification that the course of study will lead to a degree.
- e. In order to receive reimbursement, the employee must complete the course with a grade of "B" or better or satisfactorily complete the course if the course is ungraded.
- f. Reimbursement shall be made upon proof of completion as required in Section 2.e and the execution of a Township purchase order in accordance with Township procedures and State Law.

ARTICLE XIII. DEATH IN FAMILY

- 1. Every employee shall be granted leave with pay upon the death of a member of his/her family. Such leave shall be taken between the day of death and up to and including the third day after burial based upon the following schedule:
- a. For death of father, mother, sister, brother, or other relative residing in the household-maximum of four (4) working days; for officers working the three-on, three-off, 12-hour work schedule-three (3) working days.
- b. For death of aunt, uncle, grandmother, grandfather, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law---maximum of two (2) working days; for officers working the three-on, three-off, 12-hour work schedule---two (2) working days.
- c. For death of spouse or child—maximum of twelve (12) working days; for officers working the three-on, three-off, 12-hour work schedule---eight (8) working days.
- 2. The aforementioned time limits pertaining to this Article may be extended upon mutual consent of both parties.

ARTICLE XIV. PERSONAL DAYS

1. a. All employees hired prior to 01/01/1997 shall be granted four (4) days leave with pay for personal business during the calendar year.

b. All employees hired on or after 01/01/1997 shall be entitled to one (1) personal day the first year of employment, accruing one (1) additional personal day for each year of employment, up to a maximum of four (4) personal days; that is:

$$1^{St}$$
 year = 1 day
 2^{nd} year = 2 days
 3^{rd} year = 3 days
 4^{th} year = 4 days

- 2. Employees are required to give same day notice to the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee, of their requests for personal leave and the granting of personal leave shall not interfere with the efficient operation of the police department but shall not be unreasonably withheld. Personal days may not be used if the use of a personal day results in more than three (3) officers (including Sergeants) taking personal, compensatory or vacation time off on any one shift. The three (3) officer rule set forth herein does not apply to Lieutenants or Captains.
- 3. Effective January 1, 2013, personal days must be used in the year in which they are earned. All personal days carried over from previous years must be used on or before December 31, 2013.
- 4. An employee who retires or terminates employment in good standing shall be entitled to personal days for the current year prorated on the basis of one-twelfth of the personal day allowance for each month worked as of the date the separation becomes effective.

ARTICLE XV. LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 1. The employer agrees to grant a leave of absence, without pay, for a period of up to one (1) year, for personal reasons, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice given by the employee. Such leave shall be granted if it does not interfere with the efficient operation of the department but approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 2. If, at the end of the approved leave, or at any time prior to the expiration of the full period, the employee wishes to return to employment, he/she will be immediately rehired and returned to duty at the rank and salary classification he/she would normally be at with no loss of seniority or other contractual benefits.
- 3. However, should the employer seek a replacement during the leave of absence, the employee shall be notified immediately and the option of returning before the end of the full period would have to be exercised at that time. Thereafter, an early return could only be accomplished by mutual agreement.

ARTICLE XVI. VACATIONS

- 1. All full time employees are authorized an annual vacation allowance with pay which shall accrue to each employee on a calendar basis as follows:
 - a. All employees hired prior to 01/01/2000:

After Completion of		Number of Vacation
Years of Service		Days Allotted
6 months (pro-rated)		1 per month
1 year		12 days
5 years	•	18 days
10 years		24 days
15 years		25 days
•		•

plus one (1) additional day for each year thereafter (i.e., 16 years = 26 days, 17 years = 27 days, etc.) to a maximum of 35 days which shall coincide with 25 years of service except that current employees with more than 35 days shall continue to have that amount credited each year.

b. All employees hired on or after 01/01/2000:

After Completion of	Number of Vacation		
Years of Service	Days Allotted		
6 months (pro-rated)	1 per month		
1 year	12 days		
5 years	18 days		
10 years	24 days		
15 years	25 days		
20 years	30 days		

plus one (1) additional day for each year thereafter (i.e., 21 years = 31 days, 22 years = 32 days, etc.) to a maximum of 35 days which shall coincide with 25 years of service.

- 2. Vacations shall not be cumulative from one year to the next and must be taken in the year in which they are earned providing the staffing needs of the police department permit.
- a. In any case where the staffing needs of the department, as determined by the Chief of Police, do not allow an employee to take their full vacation allowance, said employee may either receive monetary payment at the straight time rate for those unused days, or the employee may be permitted to carry over into the next year those unused days; this is at the discretion of the employee. Employees must notify the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee, by December 1st of the decision to carry over days or receive monetary payment.
- b. In cases where payment is requested, that payment is to be made to the employee in the first pay period of the succeeding year.
 - c. Vacation days may not be carried over into a second year.

- 3. Employees may take their vacation time in multiples of one (1) week or it may be utilized in single day units.
- a. For uniformed personnel that work a three-on, three-off, 12-hour work schedule, one week equals three (3) days.
- b. For non-uniformed personnel, or those that work a five-on, two-off schedule, one week equals five (5) days.
- 4. The employer shall have the right to determine the scheduling of an employee's vacation. The employer agrees to give reasonable consideration to an employee's wishes in this regard. When conflicts in choice of dates occur, preference will be governed by seniority insofar as effective staffing requirements permit. A total of three (3) police officers, including Sergeants, may use vacation, compensatory or personal time on each shift. The three (3) officer rule set forth herein does not apply to Lieutenants or Captains.
- 5. A permanent employee who retires, or terminates their employment in good standing with the Township, shall be entitled to the vacation allowance for the current year prorated on the basis of one-twelfth (1/12) of their vacation entitlement for each month worked as of the date their separation becomes effective.

ARTICLE XVII. HOLIDAYS

The following fourteen (14) days are designated as "holidays" and shall be observed 1. on the dates indicated by the observation of same by the State of New Jersey with the exception of the "Employee's Birthday" which shall be observed on that specific date:

> New Year's Day President's Day Good Friday Easter Sunday Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day

Columbus Day General Election Day Veterans' Day Thanksgiving Day Friday after Thanksgiving

Christmas Day

Employee's Birthday

- All employees shall have their holiday pay rolled into base pay for all purposes. 2.
- 3. If an employee is absent prior to or following the holiday because of illness, the employer may request reasonable proof thereof.
- Employees who work on an observed holiday shall receive additional compensation as follows:
 - Scheduled to Work a Regular Shift a.

First 8 Hours

Regular rate of pay for scheduled shift and Compensatory time on an hour-for-hour basis or payment at the employee's regular rate of pay, at the option of the employee.

Hours in Excess of 8 Hours

Double time and one-half for all overtime hours and Compensatory time on an hour-for-hour basis or payment at the employee's regular rate of pay, at the option of the employee.

Not Scheduled to Work a Regular Shift Ъ.

First 8 Hours

Time and one-half for all overtime hours and

Compensatory time on an hour-for-hour basis or payment at the employee's regular rate of pay, at the option of the employee.

Hours in Excess of 8 Hours

Double time and one-half for all overtime hours and Compensatory time on an hour-for-hour basis or payment at the employee's regular rate of pay, at the option of the employee.

c. Employees working the three-on, three-off, 12 hour work schedule shall enjoy the same benefits, as described in paragraphs "a" and "b" above, except that 12 hours shall apply.

ARTICLE XVIII. SICK LEAVE

- 1. Sick leave is the absence of an employee from work because of illness, accident, exposure to contagious disease, or attendance for short periods of time upon a member of the employee's immediate family who is seriously ill requiring care or attendance of such employee.
- 2. If an employee is absent for reasons that entitle the employee to sick leave, the employee's supervisor shall be notified promptly. Failure to notify the supervisor may be cause for disciplinary action. Absence without notice for three (3) consecutive working days shall constitute resignation, unless the employee provides documentation showing that he or she was medically or physically unable to notify the supervisor.
 - 3. Sick leave for all employees shall be earned in the following manner:
- a. One day for each month of service with the employer during the first year of employment.
- b. Beginning with the second year of employment, fifteen (15) days per year and for each year thereafter. Effective January 1, 2020, beginning with the second year of employment, twelve (12) days per year and for each year thereafter.

- c. Sick leave credits shall not accrue while an employee is absent on leave without pay.
- 4. Any employee who is absent on sick leave for four (4) or more consecutive working days shall be required to submit a physician's certificate as evidence substantiating the illness. The employer may require an employee who has been absent because of personal illness, as a condition of his/her return to work, to be examined by a physician at the expense of the employer.
- 5. In the event a member suffers an on-the-job injury, payment of their full salary will continue for a period of up to one (1) year from the date of occurrence with the provision that any compensation received during the one (1) year period, in the form of disability payments, etc., are turned over to the Township.
- a. The employee will not be charged for sick leave, vacation leave, or personal leave during this absence.
- b. If, at the end of that one (1) year period, the employee is still not able to return to full duty, the Township Committee will evaluate the situation and, at its discretion, may extend the sick leave time of the employee.
 - 6. Sick leave credits shall accrue from one year to the next with no limit.
- 7. a. Officers hired on or before January 1, 2013: The employer agrees to make a monetary reimbursement at fifty percent (50%) of the employee's prevailing daily rate of pay for each unused sick day, up to a maximum of 1,320 hours, at the time of the employee's retirement under the Police and Firemen's Retirement System. All or part of an employee's accumulated sick leave may be used as terminal leave pursuant to Article XIX.
- b. Officers hired after January 1, 2013: Officers will receive payment for any accumulated sick days in accordance with the law. If an employee chooses to take terminal leave

pursuant to Article XIX, any remaining unused sick leave hours shall be paid at the employee's prevailing daily rate of pay, on an hour for hour basis, in accordance with the law.

- c. In the event of the death of an officer, the officer's estate shall receive the payments provided for in this section.
- 8. a. In certain hardship cases where an employee has exhausted all accrued sick time, other employees may donate their own accrued sick days for use by the affected employee. No more than four (4) sick days may be donated in a six-month period by any one employee.
- b. Employees donating their sick days will do so in writing by affixing their signature to the proper form. Said form will be submitted to the Township Administrator and a copy sent to the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee.
- c. Each request to donate sick days will be handled on a case-by-case basis.

 Approval must be received from the Township Administrator which shall not be denied without proper cause.
- 9. The practice of assigning officers injured on the job to light duty assignments shall continue. Effective upon the signing of this Agreement, officers injured off duty shall not be entitled to light duty assignments. Nothing in this provision shall affect or abridge the remedy set forth in the arbitration award issued in PBA Local 337 -and- Tp. of Raritan, AR-2015-139.

ARTICLE XIX. TERMINAL LEAVE

- 1. Employees may take up to six (6) months of accumulated sick and / or compensatory time as terminal leave, at their discretion, subject to the following:
- a. Officers hired on or before January 1, 2013: Employees may use any combination of sick leave or compensatory time for the six (6) month period. Any sick leave hours used for terminal leave shall be deducted from accumulated sick leave

hours to be paid at retirement pursuant to Article XVIII, Section 7. Any remaining unused accumulated sick leave hours shall be paid at the employee's prevailing daily rate of pay pursuant to Article XVIII, Section 7.

- b. Officers hired after January 1, 2013: Employees may use any combination of sick leave or compensatory time for the six (6) month period. Any sick leave hours used for terminal leave shall be deducted from accumulated sick leave hours. Any remaining unused accumulated sick leave hours shall then be paid at the employee's prevailing daily rate of pay, on an hour for hour basis, in accordance with law.
- 2. Any unused accumulated compensatory time shall be paid at retirement at the employee's prevailing rate of pay for all accumulated hours.

ARTICLE XX. ACTING OFFICER

Any employee who shall have been directed by the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee, to act in the capacity of a senior ranking officer for three (3) consecutive days in any one (1) rotation of work days shall be compensated at that senior ranking officer's rate of pay for all such time.

ARTICLE XXI. UNIFORMS AND CLOTHING

- 1. Past practice with respect to furnishing and cleaning of uniforms and equipment for employees shall be continued for the duration of this Agreement.
- 2. All employees who are assigned to work in plainclothes, and all employees in the rank of Captain and Lieutenant, shall receive an annual clothing allowance of one thousand two hundred dollars (\$1,200.00).
 - 3. If assignment occurs after January 1, the amount of the clothing allowance shall be

pro-rated on the basis of one-twelfth of the amount for each month worked as of the date the assignment becomes effective.

ARTICLE XXII. LEGAL DEFENSE

- 1. If an employee is made a defendant in a law suit or other legal proceeding arising out of the performance of Township police duties for which the Township does not have insurance coverage, then and in that event, the Township will provide the employee with counsel to defend such suit or legal proceeding.
- 2. If the employee is not satisfied with counsel provided by the Township, he/she may retain private counsel in which event the Township shall make payment in full for any and all resulting legal fees and costs at the customary rates prevailing in the region for this type of defense.
- 3. The "prevailing rate" will be agreed upon at the time the employee retains such private counsel and, if no agreement can be reached, it will be determined by an outside agency. The affected employee will be responsible for paying any difference that may result between the private counsel rate and the determined prevailing rate.

ARTICLE XXIII. INSURANCE

1. The Township agrees to continue all insurances (medical, dental, prescription) currently in effect for employees, their spouses or partners and dependents. The Township may only change insurance plans if the coverage is equal to or better than the current plan. The Township shall notify the SOA of any potential change in insurance plans and the parties will jointly determine whether the prospective plan is equal to or better than the current plan prior to implementation of any change.

Employees shall contribute towards the cost of health benefits pursuant to Tier 4 of P.L. 2011, c. 78, unless the contributions are reduced or eliminated by law. Notwithstanding the

previous sentence, the premium upon which the employee's contribution is based shall be frozen at the 2019 levels for calendar year 2020, and employee contribution amounts shall not change during 2020 if the premium increases, but may decrease if the premium decreases. The premium upon which the employee's contribution is based from 2021 through 2024 shall no longer be frozen at 2019 levels.

- a. <u>Prescription co-pays for all plans offered by the Township</u>: (Descriptions of available plans are set forth in Appendix D).
 - i. Generic (Retail); \$0 for 30-day supply.
 - ii. Generic (Mail Order): \$0 for 90-day supply.
 - iii. Brand Name (Retail): \$25 for 30-day supply for Plan B and E, \$35 for Plan F.
 - iv. Brand Name (Mail Order through CanaRx): \$0 for 90-day supply.
 - v. Brand Name (Mail Order through ProAct, if not available through CanaRx): \$50 for 90-day supply for Plan B and E, \$70 for Plan F.
 - vi. Specialty Drug: \$25 for 30-day supply for Plan B, \$50 for Plan E, \$75 for Plan F.

The prescription plan premium is based on the \$10/\$25/\$25 ProAct Prescription Plan Rates unless the member chooses the option of a higher co-pay plan offered by the Township. However, in exchange for the SOA's agreement that employees must use mail order for maintenance prescriptions to the extent permitted by law, all generic prescription co-pays shall be \$0. In addition, the co-pay for brand name prescriptions available through CanaRx shall be \$0.

b. The medical plan and premiums shall be based on the following: The co-

pay for doctor's office visits will be twenty dollars (\$20) for active employees. The co-pay for emergency room visits will be twenty-five dollars (\$25) for active employees, unless the member chooses the option of a higher co-pay plan offered by the Township.

- 2. Any employee who is injured in an accident arising out of or in the course of their employment, and who is temporarily unable to work as a result thereof, shall not be charged sick leave and shall be entitled to all such considerations as appear in Article XVIII of this Agreement.
- a. The Township reserves the right to have a physician of its own choice, at the expense of the Township, examine the employee to determine whether or not the employee is fit for duty. If the employee refuses to submit to such examination, payment under this section shall automatically terminate.
- b. If the Township physician's diagnosis and prognosis is not reconciled with the employee's private physician, a third opinion will be sought from a physician mutually agreed to by the parties and the expense of such examination and consultation shall be shared between the Township and the affected employee.
- 3. Employees shall execute and deliver to the employer a subrogation agreement relating to Worker's Compensation, temporary disability payments received by an employee while the employee is receiving a salary from the Township, and all checks received by the employee for temporary disability benefits, as stated above, shall be endorsed and delivered to the Township.
- a. In the event of third party litigation, the affected employee shall be responsible for payment of any insurance liens or claims from the proceeds of such third party action without recourse to the Township for any reimbursement thereof.
- 4. The employer shall provide False Arrest Insurance for employees as has been provided in the past. The employer will also provide, on an annual basis, a copy of the binder of

any other insurance coverage which may be applicable.

5. a. Any employee hired before January 1, 2020 who retires pursuant to the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) after twenty-five (25) years of service credited in the pension fund, with a minimum of twenty (20) years of service with the Township (in any full-time employment capacity whether or not continual service), or who retires at any point on a disability pension, shall continue to receive all health and medical benefits (including spouse, partner and dependent coverage) provided by the Township for the remainder of his or her life with the premiums fully paid by the Township as long as the retiree lives anywhere in the United States (except that any retiree living outside the United States as of 7/15/2003 shall be grandfathered into the coverage) without any contribution by the retiree. Upon the death of the employee, the employee's spouse or partner and eligible dependents shall continue to receive all health and medical benefits provided by the Township for the remainder of the spouse's life with the premiums to be paid by the surviving spouse at the group rate established for other retired employees.

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2020 shall receive Township-paid health benefits (including spouse, partner and dependent coverage) in retirement as set forth above but will be required to contribute towards the cost of those health benefits at the Tier 4 contribution level set forth in the former P.L. 2011, c. 78, based on the annual retirement allowance, if required by law. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2020 and their spouse or partner shall receive Township-paid health benefits until eligible for Medicare, at which time they will no longer receive Township-paid health benefits, provided that Medicare or a comparable program adopted by the Township-paid health benefits. Dependents shall continue to receive Township-paid health benefits. Dependents shall continue to receive Township-paid health

benefits until their age precludes them from receiving such benefits.

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2020 shall pay the following co-pays in retirement (Descriptions of available plans are set forth in Appendix D):

- i. Generic (Retail): \$0 for 30-day supply.
- ii. Generic (Mail Order): \$0 for 90-day supply.
- iii. Brand Name (Retail): \$25 for 30-day supply for Plan B and E, \$35 for Plan F.
- iv. Brand Name (Mail Order through CanaRx): \$0 for 90-day supply.
- v. Brand Name (Mail Order through ProAct, if not available through CanaRx): \$50 for 90-day supply for Plan B and E, \$70 for Plan F.
- vi. Specialty Drug: \$25 for 30-day supply for Plan B, \$50 for Plan E, \$75 for Plan F.

The prescription plan premium is based on the \$10/\$25/\$25 ProAct Prescription Plan Rates unless the member chooses the option of a higher co-pay plan offered by the Township. However, in exchange for the SOA's agreement that employees must use mail order for maintenance prescriptions to the extent permitted by law, all generic prescription co-pays shall be \$0. In addition, the co-pay for brand name prescriptions available through CanaRx shall be \$0.

The medical plan and premiums shall be based on the following: Twenty-dollar (\$20) copay for doctor's office visits. Twenty-five dollars (\$25) for emergency room visits, unless the member chooses the option of a higher co-pay plan offered by the Township. See Appendix D for other plans available.

The Township agrees that no employee hired before January 1, 2020, including active employees and those that have already retired pursuant to Article XXIII, Section 5 shall be required

to contribute towards the cost of retirement health benefits. The SOA agrees that it will withdraw the grievance concerning retirement health benefit contributions bearing docket no. AR-2018-298.

b. In the event that the employer adopts an early retirement incentive program in accordance with State Law, any employee, regardless of date of hire, who is eligible for and elects to retire under this program shall be eligible for all health and medical benefits for the remainder of his life in accordance with paragraph (a) of this section insofar as the legislation permits.

ARTICLE XXIV. PROMOTIONS

- 1. The employer agrees to give preference and advancement to the then current employees as explained in N.J.S.A. Title 40.
- 2. If a newly created job or an open job exists within the unit covered by this Agreement which represents a promotion or advancement or transfer for employees covered by this Agreement, such job will be posted on the bulletin board for fifteen (15) working days. Such notice shall contain a description of the job and the rate of pay (minimum and maximum where applicable). Employees wishing to acquire said posted jobs shall sign their names to the notice.

ARTICLE XXV. SAVINGS CLAUSE

- 1. It is understood and agreed upon that if any provision of this Agreement or the application of this Agreement to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.
- 2. If any such provision is invalid, the employer and the SOA will meet for the purpose of negotiating changes made necessary by applicable law.
 - 3. It is understood and agreed upon that, upon mutual consent of both the employer

and the SOA, the two parties may meet for the purpose of affecting a change or providing an addendum to any section of the Agreement. It is further understood and agreed upon that the remaining sections of this Agreement shall remain in full force.

4. It is understood and agreed upon that all benefits and terms and conditions of employment presently enjoyed by the employees covered by this Agreement, unless otherwise modified by this Agreement, shall be continued.

ARTICLE XXVI. PERSONNEL FILES

- 1. Employees shall have access to and shall be permitted to examine their own personnel files upon giving the employer at least two (2) working days advance notice.
- 2. No document or report shall be placed in an employee's personnel file without prior notice to the employee. Employees may copy anything that is in their files.
- 3. In the case of derogatory material, the employee shall have the opportunity to affix their signature to the copy to be filed with the express understanding that such signature in no way indicates agreement with the contents thereof. The employee shall also have the right to submit a written answer to such derogatory material and his answer shall be reviewed by the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee, and attached to the file copy.

ARTICLE XXVII. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS DURING INVESTIGATION

- 1. When an employee is called to an "investigatory meeting" from which the employee can reasonably expect to receive discipline, the employee has a right to have union representation present.
- 2. In addition, the employee has a right to be notified, in advance, of the subject matter of an investigatory interview and be afforded the opportunity to confer with a union representative before the interview.

ARTICLE XXVIII. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

- 1. Employees of the police department shall be permitted to contract work other than normal patrol duties and normal police work. Uniformed outside employment shall be contracted through the Chief of Police, and the Chief or the Chief's designee, shall equally distribute such work, to the extent possible, on a rotating basis among the employees.
- 2. Employees shall be paid for such contracted work, by separate check by the Township, immediately following the contractor's payment to the Township for said work.
- 3. The outside employment rate paid to the employee shall be \$75.00 per hour for the HCRHS District and the Flemington-Raritan School District (K-8). For all other outside employment, the outside employment rate shall be \$90.00 per hour regardless of seniority or rank.

ARTICLE XXIX. REPRESENTATION FEE

If an employee does not become a member of the SOA during any membership year, (i.e., from January 1 to the following December 31) which is covered in whole or in part by this Agreement, said employee will be required to pay a representation fee to the SOA for that membership year. This fee shall be the maximum allowed by law.

- 1. <u>Notification.</u> Prior to March 1 of each year, the SOA will submit to the employer a list of those employees who have neither become members of the SOA for the then current membership year nor paid directly to the SOA the full amount of the representation fee for that membership year. The employer will deduct from the salaries of such employees, in accordance with Section 2 below, the full amount of the representation fee and promptly will transmit the amount so deducted to the SOA.
- 2. <u>Payroll Deduction Schedule.</u> The employer will deduct the representation fee in equal installments, as nearly as possible, from the paycheck paid to each employee on the

aforesaid list during the remainder of the membership year in question. The deductions will begin with the first paycheck paid:

- a. Ten (10) days after receipt of the aforesaid list by the employer; or
- b. Thirty (30) days after the employee begins employment in a bargaining unit position.
- 3. <u>Termination of Employment.</u> If an employee who is required to pay a representation fee terminates employment with the employer before the SOA has received the full amount of the representation fee to which it is entitled under this Article, the employer will deduct the unpaid portion of the fee from the last paycheck paid to said employee during the membership year in question.
- 4. <u>Mechanics of Deduction and Transmission of Fees.</u> Except as otherwise provided in this Article, the mechanics for the deductions of representation fees and the transmission of such fees to the SOA will, as nearly as possible, be the same as those used for the deduction and transmission of regular membership dues to the SOA.
- 5. <u>Changes.</u> The SOA will notify the employer, in writing, of any changes in the list provided for in Section 1 above, and/or the amount of the representation fee, and such changes will be reflected in any deductions made more than ten (10) days after the employer receives said notice.
- 6. New Employees. At the time that the employee is officially notified of his or her appointment, in writing, a copy of said letter will be sent to the SOA.

ARTICLE XXX. MISCELLANEOUS

1. <u>Out- of- Pocket Expenses.</u> Upon receiving prior approval by the Chief of Police, employees shall be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the

performance of official duties. Payment shall be made within fifteen (15) days of submission of a voucher on the following basis:

- a. Mileage. Twenty-nine cents (\$0.29) per mile computed to and from Raritan Township Police Headquarters when using employee's own vehicle. (This shall not be construed to cover the use of employee's vehicle in reporting for or leaving duty).
- b. Tolls, Parking Fees, Lodging. Reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred for tolls, parking fees and lodging shall be made by the employer upon presentation of validated receipts.
- c. Meals. Any officer on duty for sixteen (16) consecutive hours will be entitled to a five dollar (\$5.00) meal allowance.
- 2. <u>Bulletin Board.</u> The SOA shall have the use of a bulletin board at police headquarters for posting of notices relating to Union meetings, official business, social functions, news items and other related items. No defamatory or malicious writing of any nature whatsoever shall be placed on the SOA bulletin board and the SOA agrees to maintain said board in a neat manner at all times.
- 3. <u>Dues Check Off.</u> The employer agrees to make a bi-weekly deduction from the employee's paycheck at the request of the employee. Such deductions will be used to pay for said employee's PBA dues. Such deductions will be turned over to the PBA on a monthly basis. The amount to be deducted from each paycheck will be one-half (1/2) of the employee's monthly dues.

ARTICLE XXXI. DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective from 01/01/2020 through 12/31/2024 and shall continue in full force and effect until a successor agreement is ratified by the parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the SOA and the Township have caused this Agreement to be signed by their duly authorized representatives on this 3/3/ day of December, 2019.

FOR PBALOCAL 337A

FOR THE TOWNSHIP OF RARITAN

Joseph Canonica, Representative

Donald Hutchens, Administrator

Kuhl, Mayor

APPENDIX A .

CAPTAINS SALARY SCALE

1/1/2020	1/1/2021	1/1/2022	1/1/2023	1/1/2024
\$159,088	\$163,304	\$167,631	\$172,074	\$176,634

APPENDIX B

LIEUTENANTS SALARY SCALE

STEP	YEÁRS OF SERVICE	1/1/2020	1/1/2021	1/1/2022	1/1/2023	1/1/2024
1.1	START	\$148,025	\$151,948	\$155,974	\$160,108	,\$164,350
L2	AFTER 15	\$152,425	\$156,464	\$160,611	\$164,887	\$169,236
L3	AFTER 20	\$153,892	\$157,970	\$162,156	\$166;453	\$170,865

APPENDIX C

SERGEANTS SALARY SCALE

STEP	YEARS OF SERVICE	1/1/2020	1/1/2021	1/1/2022	1/1/2023	1/1/2024
S1	START	\$125,941	\$129,278	\$132,704	\$135,221	\$139,831
S2	AFTER 5	\$130,924	\$134,393	·\$137,955	\$141,611	\$145,363.
S3	AFTER 10	\$132,170	\$135,673	\$139,268	\$142,958	\$146,747
S4	AFTER 15	\$133,416	\$136,952	\$140,581	\$144,306	\$148,130
55	AFTER 20.	\$135,908	\$139,310	\$143,207	\$147,002	\$150,897

APPENDIX D

Township of Raritan January 1, 2020 Rates Seif

	Plan G. RTPU4 S35 Copay ER \$50\${\$125}	2000	P20/35/75 0 Deductible	1000 Deducifole 50% 10000	STANDARD 2x Family Multiple Unlimited Control Contro	(ren.) \$23.057.55 Single (ren.) \$21,057.55 PaventChild(ren.) (\$1,401.43 Husband/Wife \$1,893.83 Family
Self Insured Basis	Plan ERIFOR	. 5000	P10/25/50 0 Deductible	1000 Deducible 60% 10000°	STANDARD {2x Family Multiple Unlimited The Company of the Compa	\$888.22 Single \$1,123,11 Percetchild(ren) \$1,488.32 Husband/Wife \$2,011.25 Femily
January 1, 2020 Rates Self	Plan B KrPuz	3500	P.10/25/25 0 Deductible Exercise (1997)	905. 3200	STANDARD 2x Family Multiple Unifruited SCHOOL STANDARD	\$963.24. Single \$1,214,17 ParentChild(ren) · \$1,608.90 Husbend/Wife \$2,174.32 Family
	Benefits Office Copay (PCP/SPC) ER Copay Hospital Copay	Max Out of Pocket (INN)	Furmacy Pharmacy Dednotfale Out of Network Dednotfale	Coinsurance Max Out of Pocket (OON)	Formity Multiple: DMB	Single ParentChild(yen) Husband/Wife Family